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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of
CERTAIN ELECTRONIC DEVICES WITH Investigation No. 337-TA-714
MULTI-TOUCH ENABLED TOUCHPADS
AND TOUCHSCREENS

NOTICE OF COMMISSION DETERMINATION TO REVIEW-IN-PART A FINAL
INITIAL DETERMINATION; TERMINATION OF INVESTIGATION WITH A
FINDING OF NO VIOLATION OF SECTION 337

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to review in-part the final initial determination (“ID”) issued by the presiding
administrative law judge (“ALJ”’) on April 29, 2011, finding no violation of section 337 in the
above-captioned investigation. In particular, the Commission has determined to review and take
no position on the ALJ’s finding that the “scanning” step of independent claim 1 requires a
specific temporal order for elements (a) to (¢) and his related finding of collateral estoppel. See
Order No. 17 at 9-18 (Nov. 9, 2010); ID at 8-9; Order No. 16 (Sept. 28, 2010). The Commission
has further determined to adopt the remainder of the ID to the extent it is not based on these
claim construction rulings. The investigation is terminated with a finding that Apple did not
violate section 337.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Daniel E. Valencia, Office of the General
Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436,
telephone (202) 205-1999. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this
investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45 a.m. to
5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street,
S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at Attp.//www.usitc.gov. The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commission’s electronic docket
(EDIS) at Attp.//edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on this
matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation on
April 29, 2010, based on a complaint filed by Elan Microelectronics Corporation of Taiwan
(“Elan”), alleging a violation of section 337 in the importation, sale for importation, and sale
within the United States after importation of certain electronic devices with multi-touch enabled
touchpads and touchscreens by reason of infringement of certain claims of U.S. Patent No.



5,825,352 (“the ‘352 patent). 75 Fed. Reg. 22625. The complaint named Apple, Inc. of
Cupertino, California (“Apple”) as the only respondent.

On April 29, 2011, the ALJ issued a final ID finding no violation of section 337. The ALJ
concluded, among other things, that none of the accused products infringe the asserted claims of
the ‘352 patent and that no domestic industry exists.

On May 16, 2011, complainant Elan filed a petition for review of the ALJ’s final ID. The same
day, respondent Apple filed a contingent petition for review. On May 24, 2011, Elan, Apple and
the Commission investigative attorney responded to the petitions for review.

Having examined the record of this investigation, including the ALJ’s final ID and the
submissions of the parties, the Comm1551on has determined to review and take no posmon on the
ALJ’s claim construction ruling that the scanning’ step of independent cldim 1 requires a
specific temporal order for elements (a) to (c), and his related finding of collateral estoppel. See
Order No. 17 at 9-18 (Nov. 9, 2010); ID at 8-9; Order No. 16 (Sept. 28, 2010). The Commission
has also determined to adopt the remainder of the ID to the extent it is not based on these claim
construction rulings. The Commission had determined to terminate the investigation with a
finding that Apple has not violated section 337.

* The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff Act of
1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in Part 210 of the Commission’ s Rules of Practice and

Procedure (19 C.F.R. Part 210).
ﬁ R. Holbein

Secretary to the Commission

By order of the Commission.

Issued: June 30, 2011
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PUBLIC VERSION

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN ELECTRONIC DEVICES WITH
MULTI-TOUCH ENABLED TOUCHPADS
AND TOUCHSCREENS

Inv. No. 337-TA-714

Final Initial and Recommended Determinations

This is the administrative law judge’s Final Initial Determination under Commission rule

210.42. The administrative law judgé, after a review of the record developed, finds kintefg_lig that

there is jurisdiction and that there is no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act 0f 1930, as

amended.

This is also the administrative law judge’s Recommended Determination on remédy and

- bonding, pursuant to Commission rules 210.36(a) and 210.42(a)(1)(ii). Should the Commi‘ssion

find a violation, the administrative law judge recommends the issuance of a limited exclusion

order barring entry into the United States of infringing electronic devices with multi-touch

enabled touchpads and touchscreens as well as the issuance of an appfopriate cease and desist

order. The imposition of any bond during the Presidential Review period is not recommended.
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"~ OPINION

L Procedurai History :

By notice dated April 23, 2010, the Commission instituted an investigation, pursuant to
subsection (b) of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, to determine (a) whether
there is a violation of subsection (a)(1)(B) of section 337 in the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, ’ror the sale within the United States after impoi‘tation of certain
electronic devices with multi-touch enabled touchpads or touchscreens that infringe one or more

of claims 1,2, 4,7, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 19, 21, 24, 26, and 30 of U.S. Patent No. 5,825,352, (‘352
patent) and whether’ an industry in the United States exists as required by subsection (a)(2) of
section 337. The complaint was filed with the Commission on March 29, 2010, under section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, on behalf of Elan Microelectronics
Corporation (Elan). A letter supplementing the complaint was filed on April 16, 2010. The
complainant requested that the Commission institute an investigation and, after the investigation,
issue an exclusion order and a cease and desist order. Apple, Inc. (Apple) was named in the
notibe of investigation as respondent and was served with the complaiﬁt.

Ordcr No. 3, which issued on May 21, 2010, set a target date' of August 29, 2011 which
meant that any final initial determination on violation should be filed no later than the close of
business on April 29, 2011."

A Markman hearing was conducted on August 18, 19, and 20, 2010, with all paﬁies

participating.

! The notice of investigation was published on April 29, 2010 (75 Fed. Reg. Vol. 75, No.
82 at 22625-26).



VOtder No. 13, which issue;d on August'?;(),i ZOi 0, teﬁninéted the ini%estigétion with respect :
to claim 26 of the ‘352 patent. Thé Comn;issiori non reviewed said ordér on September 13,
2010.

Order No. 15, which issued on September 28, 2010 found each of cléims 19, 24 and 30 of
the <352 paient in\?a;iid. On October 28, 2010, the Commission non-reviewed said order.

Order No. 16, which issued as an initial determination (ID) oncheptember 28,2010, found
complainant collaterally estopped from certéin pleadings. The Commission, in a notice dated
October 28, 2010, reviewed said Order No. 16 and determined that said order is an order rather
than an initial determination. In said notice, it was stated in part:

Prior to the ALJ's Markman hearing [on August 18, 19 and 20, 2010],

- Apple moved for summary determination that Elan was barred from
advocating a claim construction for certain claim terms in claims 1
and 18 of the '352 patent different from the claim construction
advocated by Elan and adopted by the District Court in Elantech
Devices Corp. v. Synaptics, Inc., No. C 06-01839 CRE (N.D. Cal.
filed Mar. 10, 2006).”2! Apple's motion was based on the doctrine of
issue preclusion, or in the alternative, on the doctrine of judicial
estoppel. Mem. in Support of Apple Inc.'s Mot. for Summ.

. Determination of Claim Construction 10-23 (July 14,2010).
Following briefing (both before and after the Markman hearing) and
attorney argument at the Markman hearing, the ALJ granted Apple's
motion as an ID (Order No. 16).

~On October 6, 2010, Elan petitioned for review of the ID, and on
October 14, 2010, Apple opposed the petition, substantially for the
reasons set forth in its motion. On October 14, 2010, the Commission
investigative attorney opposed the petition on the basis that the
decision is not properly anID and that Commxssmn review is not
ripe. s

The Commission has determined to review the subject ID in its
entirety, and upon review to find that Order No. 16 is an order and not

2 As set forth in Section X, Domestic Industry, there were three lmgatmns involving
Synaptics Whlch included the lmgatmn referenced here. ‘

2



' "an initial deterinination. On October 20, 2010, the Commission found
that claim constructions standing alone (i.e., without a finding of
" invalidity, infringement, or the like) are not properly the subject of
initial determinations under Commission rules 210.18 and 210.42,19
CF.R. §§210.18, 210.42. Notice of Commission Determination that
June 22, 2010, Initial Determination Is an Order Rather than an Initial -
Determination, Inv. No. 337-TA-703 (Oct. 20, 2010); see also Notice,
75 Fed Reg. 44282 (July 28,2010). It follows, a fortiori, that Order
No. 16 in the instant investigation, which merely precluded the
presentation of certain evidence or attorney argument in connection
with claim construction proceedings, is similarly not an initial
determination under Commission rules.
On November 9, 2010, the administrative law judge issued Order No. 17 relating to claim
construction in connection with the Markman hearing held on August 18, 19 and 20, 2010.
Order No. 21, which issued on December 22, 2010 terminated the investigation as to
claim 10 of the ‘352 patent. The Commission non-reviewed said order on January 11, 2011.
Order No. 22 which issued on January 5, 2011 relates to a stipulation regarding
respoi}dent Apple’s importation and inventory.
Order No. 28, which issued on January 31, 2011, required certain submissions from
complainant, reépondent and the Commission Investigative Staff (staff).
Order No. 31, which issued on February 16, 2011 relates to a stipulation regarding the
‘352 patent and the technology at issue. Order Nos. 32 and 33 which also issued on February 16,
2011 relate to a stipulation regarding additional Apple source code and a stipulation on domestic
ihdustry respectively.
Order No. 34, which issued on February 16, 2011, relates to a stipulation regarding an
- application specific integrated circuit (ASIC) within each Apple accused product.
| Order No. 35, which issued on March 7, 2011 terminated the investigation as to claims 4,

12, 14, 18 and 21 of the ‘352 patent. The Commission issued a notice not to review Order

3



No. 35 on March 28, 2011. |

Arguménts were heard on Motions In Limine Nos. 714-32, 714-33, 714-34, 714-35, 714-
36 and 714-37 on February 11, 2011. At the prehearing conference cohducted on February 15,
2011, said motions were ruled on. A four day evidentiary hearing was conducted on February
15,16, 17 and 18. Post hearing submiésions have been filed. In issue, inter alia, are claims 1, 2,
7 and 16 of the ‘352 patent. The matter is now ready for a ﬁnal decision.’

The Fmal Initial and Recommended Determinations are based on the record compiled at
the{ hearing and the exhibits admitted into evidence. The administrative law judge has also taken
into account his observation of the witnesses who appeared before him during the hearing.
Proposed findings of fact submitted by the parties* not herein adopted, in the form submitted or
in substance, are rejected as either not supported by the evidence or as involving immaterial |
matters and/or as irrelevant. Certain findings of fact included herein have references to
supportilig evidence in the record. Such references are intended to serve as guides to the
testimony and exhibits supporting the finding of fact. They do not necessarily represent complete

summaries of the evidence supporting said findings.

* In a filing dated March 1, 2011 respondent Apple, in an unopposed motion, moved to -
clarify that CX-298C is not in evidence or alternatively, to strike CX-298C from the record.
(Motion Docket No. 714-39.) Motion No. 714-39 is granted on the ground that the
administrative law judge sustained the objections to CX-281C through CX-315C on the basis of
lack of foundation (Tr. at 305).

4 Ground rule 18 in effect for this investigation states that “[f]ollowing the close of the

- hearings, each party will submit proposed findings of fact . . .” While proposed findings of fact
were submitted by each of the private parties, no proposed findings were filed by the staff nor did
the staff file any motion to be relieved from the filing of proposed findings. The administrative
law judge finds no explanation or justification in the record for the staff’s failure to submit
proposed findings of fact.



o Juﬁsdictionflncluding Parties And Iini){;rtaﬁon '

On June 15, 2010, Apple and Elan’ entered iﬁté a sﬁpﬁlatidn regarding importation of the
accused products. Puréuant to paragraph 2 of the stipulation, the parties agreed that at least onen
unit of each of the accused products has been imported or sold aftr;r importation into the United
States by Apple, or will be imported or sold after importation kby Apple as of the time of the
evidentiary hearing. That stipulation was put into eﬁec‘; on June 23,2010 pufcsuant to Order No.
10. On December 22, 2010, Apple and Elan submitted a supplemental importation stipulation,
wherein they agreed that the private parties will not dispute that the importation requirement for
this Investigation is satisfied with respect to Apple's accused products, namely the iPhone 3G,
iPhone 3GS, iPhone 4, iPad, iPod touch, MacBook, MacBook Air, MacBook Pro, VMagic Mouse,

| and Magic Trackpad. That stipulation was put into effect on January 5, 2011 pursuant to Order
No. 22. Moreover, Apple does not dispute that the Commission has in rem jurisdicﬁcn over the
accused Apple products.

The Commission also has in personam jurisdiction over respondent Apple who, inter alia,
(1) has responded to the complaint and notice of investigation, (ii) has participated in discovery,
and (iii) has participated in the evidentiary hearings. See Certain Audible Alarm Devices For
Divers, Inv. No. 337-TA-365, Initial Determination at 3 (Feb. 2, 1995).

OI.  The °352 Patent In Issue

The 352 patent, titled "Multiple Fingers Cbntact Sensing Method for Emulating Mouse

Buttons and Mf;’;use'“‘()perations on a Touch Sensor Pad” issuedv ony Octoi)er 20, 1998, based on an |

application filed on February 28, 1996. (JX-11.) Stephen Bisset and Bernard Kasser are the -

5 ‘See FF 1-6 in Section XIII, infra, for identification of parties.
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named inventors. Complainant Elan acquired the patent from Logifech; Inc. (See CX-52C, JX-8
and complaint, '8.)
The abstract of the ‘352 patent reads as follows:

Method and apparatus for detecting an operative couple between
one or more fingers or other appropriate objects and a touch pad
includes processes for detection of multiple maxima with

_intermediate minima in appropriate sequences to emulate the
operations of cursor control and button actuations in a pointing and
control device.

(IX-1).
Iv. The Claims In Issue

Claims 1, 2, 6,° 7 and 10 of the ‘352 patent read: -
1. A method for detecting the operativé coupling of
multiple fingers to a touch sensor involving the steps of

scanning the touch sensor to (a) identify a first maxima in
a signal corresponding to a first finger, (b) identify a
minima following the first maxima, (c) identify a
second maxima in a signal corresponding to a
second finger following said minima, and

‘providing an indication of the simultaneous presence of
- two fingers in response to identification of said first and -
second maxima. ’

(JX-1 at 16:14-23).
2. The method of claim 1 further including the step of causing
a pointing device click function to occur in response to the

’ detectlon of at least a second maxima.

(JX-1 at 16:24-26).

¢ Complainant has not asserted claim 6. However claim 7 which depends from claim 6,
has been asserted. :



6. The method of claim 1 wherein said touch sensor includes a
plurality of lines, said maxima being a largest local variation in a
signal value on one of said lines due to capacitive coupling of a
finger.

’(JX~1 at 16:36-39).

7. The method of claim 6 wherein said maxima are peaks.

(JX-1 at 16:40). |

16.  The method of claim 1 further comprising the step of:
calculating first and second centroids corresponding to said first
and second fingers.

(TX-1 at 17:20-23).

V. Experts

Elan’s technical expert is Robert Dezmelyk. He was qualiﬁed'as an expert in computer
user input devices in the Markman hearing. See Order No. 17. No one at the evidentiary heaﬁng
had any objection to him continuing to be so qualified. (Tr. at 434.) Apple’s technical expert is
Iiavin Balakrishnan. He was qualified as an expert in the field of computer user input devices
during the Markman hearing. See Order No. 17. No one at the evidentiary hearing had any
objection to him continuing to be so qualified. (Tr. at 811-12.)

In addition to the technical experts, Cate Elsten was qualified as complainant’s expert in
the field of 1icehsing and ﬁnaﬁcial analysis. (Tr. at 280.) Christopher Bakewell was qualified as
réspondent’s expert in licensing and financial analjfsis. (Tr. at 1150.)'

VI Skill Level Of One Of Ordinary Skill In The Art

The skill level of one of ordinary skill in the art for the ‘352 patent is education

equivalent to a bachelor’s degree in computer science, electrical engineering, or a similar



‘technical degree, and three years of experience in touch-sensitive input devices. See Order No.
17.

- VI Claim Construétion

With respect to claim 1 of the ‘352 patent, Order No. 17 construed certain language of

said claims as follows:

1. = “identify a first maxima in a signal corresponding to a first finger,”
“identify a minima following the first maxima,” and “identify a
~ second maxima in a signal corresponding to a second finger
following said minima” (Claim 1).

As found in Order No. 17:

“the administrative law judge finds (1) that the disputed claim term
“identify a first maxima in a signal corresponding to a first finger”
means identify a first peak value in a finger profile taken on a
straight line obtained from scanning the touch sensor, (2) that the
disputed claim term “identify a minima following the first
maxima” means identify the lowest value in the finger profile taken
on said straight line that occurs after the first peak value, and
before another peak value is identified, and (3) that the disputed
claim term “identify a second maxima in a signal corresponding to
a second finger following said minima” means after identifying the
lowest value in the finger profile taken on said straight line,
identify a second peak value in the finger profile taken on said -
straight line. The administrative law judge also finds that claims 1
and 18 include a temporal requirement to identify the first maxima, -
then later in time identify the minima following the first maxima, -
and still later in time identify the second maxima following said
minima.” '

Order No. 17 at 13-24.
2. “control functions”
As found in Order No. 17:

~ “the administrative law judge finds that one of 0rdinar§~ skill in the
art would understand the claim term “control function” to mean



any function executed in response to the cperative couplmg of
multiple fingers on a touch sensor.”

Order No. 17 at 23.
3. “in response t0”
As found in Order No. 17:

“the administrative law judge finds that one of ordinary skill in the
art would understand from the claim language that the claim term
“in response to” means that the indication step must occur after the
identification step, and that the indication step must occur because
of the “identification of said first and second maxima.” The
administrative law judge further finds that the claim language does
not indicate whether any other events may occur between the
identification and indication steps.”

Order No. 17 at 28.
4. “identify”
As found in Order No. 17:
“the administrative law judge finds that one of ordinary skill in the
art would understandi the claim term “identify” to mean “recognize
a value to be,” which requires both analysis of the touch sensor
signal and designation of the location of the claimed maxima and
minima.”
Order No. 17 at 34.
The parties were aware, prior to the evidentiary hearing which commenced on February
15, 2011, that any arguments, with respect to changing the claim construction 6f Order No. 17,
must meet the standard for a motion for reconsideration. (RFF 193 (undisputed in relevant part).)

Complainant has not moved for reconsideration. (CRREF 193.A.) Thus the claim construction

of Order No. 17 is the law of the case.



- VIIL | Infm'ngsmeﬁt :
A. Acéused Products

Complainant argued that the accused products include, but are not limited to, Apple’s
iPod Touch, iPhone 3G/3GS, iPhone 4, iPad, MacBook, MacBook Pro, MacBook Air, Magic
Mouse, and Magic TrackPad. (CBr at 28.) Complainant further argued that all of the accused
products “incorporate a touch sensor and detect the operative coupling of multiple fingers to the
touch sensor.” (CBr at 38.)

Respondent argued that its multi-touch algorithms are “at the heart of this Investigation."’
(RBrat 18.)

The staff argued that while there are “numerous” acpused devices, viz. the Apple iPhone
,; 3G, iPhone 3GS, iPhone 4, iPod touch, iPad, MacBook, MacBook Air, Magic Mouse, and Magic |
| TrackPad, the evidence relating to infringement involves, in general, respondent’s software
source code for controlling the touch pad of éach accused product, which operates the same in
the various producté. (SBI‘ at4.) :

Thé adnﬁnistrative law judge finds that the accused products at issue are Apple’s iPod
- Touch, iPhoné 3G/3GS, iPhone 4, iPad, MacBook, MacBook Pro, MacBook Air, Magic Mouse,
and Magic TrackPad. (CFF 1.198; RRCFF 1.198.) The administrative law judge finds, however,
k that no party attempts to break down the infringement analysis ona product—by—product basis, ‘
: ’irkistead focusing okn\ ﬂle algorithm used by the various accused products. (See, generally, CBr at
~ 38-65; RBr at 42-79; SBr at 6-10.)1 Thus, the administrative law judge will analyze the algorithm
in use by the 'accu:‘;ed prbducté and thai analysis will apply to each of the abcuséd products.

- Hence, he finds that his analysis of the algorithm will determine whether there is or is not

10



infringement of the claims in issue, consistent with the arguments of the parties.

B. Claim 1
1. The claimed phrase “(a) identify a first maxima in a signal corresponding to a first
finger...” :

With respect to the claimed phrase, {

11



The staff ‘Vargued that{

}

The administrative la;v judge has previously found that the claimed phrase, “identifj a
first maxima in a signal corresponding to a first finger” is construed as “identify a ﬁrét peak
value in a finger profile taken on a straight line obtained from scanning the touch sensor.” (Order
No. 17 at 13; see also Section VII, supra; RFF 353 (“The max/min/max terms of the asserted
claims all requife that extrema be identified “in a finger profile taken on a straight line.”)
(undisputed).)

It is undisputed that data from the touchpad must be processed, because the data alone is
not uéeful unless an analysis is performed on it to determine whether there are any contacts, and

if so, how many and of what kind. (RFF 234 (undisputed).) {

12
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} However, the administrative law judge notes that it is a method claim that is

asserted, and therefore, it is a method that is at issue, not the results of that methbd. (_Sgg, inter

alia, Joy Techs. Inc. v. Flakt. Inc., 6 F.3d 770, 775 (Fed. Cir. 1993); Surfware, Inc. v. Celeritive’

Techs.. Inc., 2009 WL 605803 at *5; GTX Corp. v. Kofax Image Prods. Inc., 571 F. Supp. 2d

742, 748 (E.D. Tex. 2008).) {

’ 7 Respondent disputes that complainant has shown that the accused products are actually
-used in the fashion claimed by complainant. See, inter alia, Rbr at 48-55; RRBr at 25-28.

14



2. * The claimed phrase “(b) identify a minima following the first maxima...”

Regarding the claimed phrase in issue, complainant argued that, {

y
Respondent argued that its algorithm never identifies a minima, as cited in the claimed

phrase, {

}
The administrative law judge has previously found that the claim term “identify a n?;inima

following the first maxima” means “identify the lowest value in the finger profile taken on said

15



straight line that occurs after the first peak valué, and before another peak value is identified.”
(Order No. 17 at 13; see also Section VII, supra.) As the administrative law judge has found,
supra, respondent’s algorithm does not perform an analysis on pixels in a straight line. Thus, hé’

- finds that the accused products do not identify minima on a straight line.

{

} the
adm,inistrative law judge finds that complainant has pointed to nowhere in the source code that

the algorithm actually identifies a minima. (See, generally, JX-20.) Moreover, the administrative

16
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léw judge finds that complainant has admitted {

}

3. The temporal requirement in asserted claim 1

With réspect fo the temporal requirement,® complainant argued that the accused products
infringe the asserted claims of the ‘352 patent in the requisitké sequential order. (CBr at 36; see
also CBr at 43-54.)

Respondent argued that even applying Elan’s theory with respect to {

}

The staff argued that complainant has failed to show that the accused products find a
maxima or minima in the required temporal order. (SBrat 7.)
The administrative law judge has found, supra, that the accused products ncvér idehtify a
minima. {’ | |
} Thus, the
administrative law judge finds that complainant’ has not shown that the accused products meet the

“temporal requirement of asserted claim 1.°

- * The administrative law judge has previously found that asserted claim 1 has a temporal
requirement to identify the first maxima, then later in time identify the minima following the first
maxima, and still later in time identify the second maxxma fol]omng said minima. (Order 17 at
14; see also Section VI, supra.) “

‘ % Complainant has argued that it “construes steps (a),(b), and (¢) in claims 1 and 18 as
not having to be performed in a specific order...”, i.e., that there is no temporal requirement. (CBr
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4. ‘ Conciusion
”Bz;.sed on the foregoing, the administrative law j’udge ﬁndé that complainant has rioi
shown, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the accused products infringe asserted claim 1 of
the °3 52 patent.

“C. Asserted dependent claiins 2,7,and 16

" The administrative law judge has fouhd, supra, that complainant has failed to show that
asserted claim 1 of the ‘352 patent is infringed by any product accused in this investigation.
Hence, the administrative law judge finds that complainaht has likewise not shown that the
asserted claims depending from claim 1, _\g;_ 2,7, and 16, are infringed.
| D.  Inducement to Infringe

The adznirﬁstrativé law judge has found, supra, complainént has failed to show that any

accused produc’{ infringé‘s the assertéd ‘352 patent, which is a requirement to show inducement to
infringe. Thus, the administrative law judge finds that complainant has not shown any
inducemem to infringe. | |
IX. | Validity/ ;

: Respoﬁdent argued that asserted claims 1, 2, and 16 Qf the ‘352 patent are anticipated by
| Japanese Patent Application Publication 6-161661 (the ‘661 application) (RX-195). (RBr at 84-
99.) Respondent further argued that asserted claim 7 of the ‘352 pateﬁt Wéuld have been obvious
__considering either the *661 appiication in coinbination wiih Siegel et al., “Perfonna;nqé Analysis
| of Tactile Sénsor,” 1987 IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (Siegel)

(RX-197) or the ‘661 application in combination with R.S. Fearing, “Tactile Sensing

~at35.) Assuming arguendo the administrative law judge had accepted said argument, he has
- found other basis for his finding of non-infringement, independent of the temporal requirement.

See supra.
18



Mechanisms,” International J oumel of Robotics Research (Jﬁne 1990) (Fearing) (RX-101). (RBr
2 99-107)) | |

Complainant argued that fespondent has not shown by clear and cenvincing eVidence that
any of the asserted claims are anticipated or ebvious in view of any of the prior art asserted. (CBr
at 65-77.)

The staff argued that the evidence produced et the evidentiary hearing shows that the ‘661
application “renders aseened claims 1, 2, and 16 invalid as anﬁcipated,” and “the evidence shows
that claim 7 (and its underlying cleim 6) would have been obvious over the 661 application in
light of either’ Fearing 1990 (RX-101) or Siegel 1987 (RX-197).” (SBr at 16-17.)

An issued patent is presumed valid, see 35 U.S.C. § 282, and a party challenging a
patent’s validity must overcome thlS presumption by clear and convincing evidence. See Pfizer,
Inc. v. Apotex, Inc., 480 F.3d 1348, 1360 (Fed. Cir. 2007). Respondent has the burden to

overcome the presumption that the asserted claims of the ‘352 patent are valid. Tech. Licensing

Corp. v. Videoteg, Inc., 545 F.3d 1316 (2008). The burden of persuasion never shifts to

complainant. Id. Rather, the risk of “decisional uncertainty” remains on the party or parties
asserting invalidity. Id. Thus, it is respondent’s burden to prove by clear and convincing
evidence that any of the alleged prior art references anticipate or render obvious asserted claims

1,2,7, and 16 of the ‘352 patent. See PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. v. ViaCell. Inc., 491 F.3d

1342, 1360 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (stating, “the burden falls on the patent challenger to show by clear
and convincing evidence that a person of ordinary skill in the art would have had reason to
attempt to make the composition or device, or carry out the claimed proeess, and Would have had
a reasonable expectation of success in doing s0.”). Failure to do so means that respondent loses

on this point. Tech. Licensing, 545 F.3d at 1327.
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The “661 applicaiion isa Japaneéé Laid Qpen Patent Appiiéation titled “A touch panel
input device and input method wherein multiple inputs can be made sirﬁultaneously” and
published on June 10, 1994 more than one year before the filing of the application that resulted in
the ‘352 patent. (RX-195.001.) |

Siegel is an article titled, “Performance Analysis of a Tactile Sensor” published in 1987.
(RX-191.001.) Siegél discloses the design of a con’tact’ sensor utilizing an 8§ x 8 array of
cépacitive cells for use in a robotic dexterous hand, where said capgcitive cells are formed by two
parallel elecﬁically conductive piates that generate a capacitance proportional to their separation.
dd.)

 Fearing is an article titled, “Tactile Sensing Mechanisms” published in the International

Journal of Robotics Research in June 1990. (RX-101.002.) Fearing discloses the design of a

cylindrical tactile sensor‘ with an 8 x 12 array of capacitive sensing elements. (Id. at 003.)
Fearing further discloses a method for accurately determining contact locafion. ag at 017.)
A Anticipation |

A patent claim is invalid as'anticipated if it “was known or used by others in this country,
or‘ﬁatented or descﬁbed in a printed publication’; before the claimed invention, or it was‘
“patented or described in a printed publication... more than one year prior” to the filing date. 35 \
~ U.S.C. §§ 102(a) and (b). Additionally, a claim is anticipated if “the invention was described in
| a patent granted on an application for patent by another filed in the United States before the
inventidn thg;reof by the appiicant for patent.” 35 Us.C. § 102(e). For anticipation, “aﬁ of the

elements and limitations of the claim must be shown in 4 single prior art reference, arranged as in

 the claim.” Karsten Mfg. Corp. v. Cleveland Golf Co., 242 F.3d 1376, 1383 (Fed. Cir. 2001).

_ Further, where a prior art reference does not expressly disclose an element or limitation of the
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claim in issue, extrinsic evidence may be used to prove said element or limitation is inherently

present in the prior art. See Continental Can Co. USA, Inc. v. Mohsanié Cb., 948 F.2d 1264,
1268 (Fed. C1r 1991). However, ;‘[s]uch evidence must make clear the missing descriptive
matter is necessarily present in fhe thmg described in the reference, and ‘that it would be so
recognized by persons of ordinary skill.” Id. Anticipation is a question of fact, including whether
or not a’nkelement is inherent in the priora;rt. In re Schreiber, 128 F.3d 1473, 1477 (Fed. Cir.

1997).

1. Claim 1
a. The claimed phrase, “scanning the touch sensor...”

The parties have agreed that the term “scanning the touch sensor” means “measuring the
values generated by a touch sensor to detect operative coupling and determining the
corresponding positions at which meaéurements are made.” (RFF 534 (ﬁndisputc;d).) Mereover,
prior to the issﬁance of Order No. 17, the parties had so agreed. |

Respondent argued that the ‘661 application “explicitly discioses’the ‘scanning’ of lines
in the X- and Y-axes of the touch sensor to collect data f(;r subsequent analysis.” (RBr at 87.)

Complainant argued that the ‘661 application does not measure values generated by the
touch sensor or detect operative coupling of fingers to the touch sensor, and thus, the ‘661
application does not meet the construction of this claimed phrase agreed upon prior to the
issuance of Order No. 17. (CBr at 68-69.)

The staff argued that the ‘661 application “teaches a touch sensing paz;el for multiplé
- ﬁng’e;input” and “projecting a finger profile along an x and y axis,” where the “profile contains a |

‘maxima, a minima, and a second maxima.” (SBr at 16.)
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The “661 application discloses the use of a touch panel in the ﬁame of the invenﬁdn, viz. |
“[a] touch panel inpﬁt device ai}d input method wherein mﬁltiple inputs can be made
simultaneously,” and in the object of the invenfi(;n, viz. “[i]n connectﬁon with a touch panel input
“device, to make it possible for multiple switch inputs to be made simultaneously.” (RXf 195.001.)
The parties do not dispute that the touch panel in the ‘661 application is a touch sensor as in
claim 1 of the *352 patent. (See RFF 520; CRRFF 520.C (referring to the “touch sensor” of the
‘661 application).) Also, the private parties do not dispute that the ‘661 application contemplates
multiple finger contacts as the “multiple inputs” referenced in the ‘661 application name of
invention and object of invention; supra. (See CFF V.15 (“Finger contact at an intersection
causes the lines to touch, closing the switch...”); RFF 530 (“The JP6-161661 Application
discloses the ‘operaiivé coupling’ of multiple fingers to the touch sensor.”).) Further, the

operation of the ‘661 application discloses:

When a touch panel (1) is pressed. switch input is detected
by a switch detector (3) in the touch panel interface, and a
microprocessor (written as MPU (5)) takes in all switch data. The

said data taken in from the touch panel (1) is/are stored in memory
as coordinate data, and projection data are obtained by projecting
the said coordinate data to the x and y axes. It is determined
whether or not it is possible to divide the coordinate data by
detecting whether or not there are points of divisions in data groups
of the said projection data and the coordinates of the points of
divisions. If possible, divided coordinate data are made by dividing
the coordinate data. If not possible, then it is determined that one
switch was pressed. '

(RX-195.003 atq 8 (emphasis,added).) The ‘661 applicatien further discloses:

In Figure 1, a touch panel (1) is a transparent sheet and placed in
layers on a display screen of a display device (4); and in the present
embodiment, it has a group of 8 X 6 switches configured along the
~ x and y axes. If any one of the switches is pressed. a switch
detector (3) transmits an interrupt signal to a microprocessor (5).
When this is received. the microprocessor (5) jumps into an
interrupt process routine. In the interrupt process routine, an output
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- port of an open collector of a parallel input output interface (called
PIO (2)) which is the x-axis is scanned line by line using a timer
interruption, and by taking in all the y-axis output connected to an
input port of PIO (2) for every line scanned, data for each
intersection are obtained. Since each line of the x-axis is output
from the open collector, when it is being scanned and active, it
draws a line at a potential of nearly zero; and when it is not
scanned, it is inactive and impedance becomes high.

(RX—19S.OO3 at 9 12 (emphasis added).) Thus, the device in the ‘661 application includes an
array of conduétix?e lines arranged along x and y axes such that mechanical switches are formed
at the intersection of the conductive lines, allowing for finger presses to cause intersecting
conductive lines to touch and close a switch or switches, and when the device detects that one or

more switches have been closed an interrupt process routine occurs and the switch data is

scanned line by line along the x-axis. (RX-195.003; see also, CFF V.14; CFF V.15; CFF V.16.)
With respéct to the data produced by scanning line by line, the ‘661 application discloses:
In the present embodiment, data for all the said intéfsections are
stored in memory, and they are recognized as coordinate data if a
scan number is an x address and a bit order of data output from the
y-axis in the matrix, a y-axis address, data for each intersection,
“0” when [such an intersection] is pressed and “I” when not
pressed. '
 (RX-195.004 at 4 13.) Thus, the data generated by scanning the touch sensor are “0” or “1”
values representing whether a switch at a particular coordinate is open or closed. The
- administrative law judge finds that the determination of “0” or a “1”at particular coordinates on a
touch "panel, where those values are generated by the closing of mechanical switches in response
| to finger presses on said touch panel, teaches the claim‘limitation “scanning the touch sensor”
under the agreed-to construt:tion of that limitation.

Complainant argued that “[t]he 661 patent [sic application] does not measure values

generated by a touch sensor.” (CBr at 68.) In support of said argument, complainant asserted that
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the ‘661 applicétion only téaéheé dete’cﬁng ON and OFF étates that ’\are storéd as coordinate data,
and that cbordiﬁate date only ‘;référs to the location 'Whe;e theré is a touch, no measured value is |
stored for that coordinate.” (Id.) However, as found supra, the ‘661 application teaches stbring of
‘;0” or “1” corresponding to whether switches are open or closed.  Moreover complainant’s

expert Dezmelyk indicated that said teaching corresponds to determining a logical value:

Q. And what the claim says is value, right?

A. Yes, I believe it is determining a value is the exact phrase.
Q And alogical 1 or a 0 is determining a value, isn't it?
~ A. Determining a logical value, yes.

(Tr.at 1261.)

| Compiainant also argued that the ‘661 application does not teach “operative coupling”
referenced in the agreed upon construction prior to the issuance of Order No. 17. (CBr at 68-69.)
In support of thlS argument, complainant cited previous litigation between cqmplainant and
Syﬁaptics, Inéorporated (Synaptics) in whlch complainant and Synaptics “agreed that ~;operative
coupling’ would be understood by those skilled in the art to mean an ‘electriéal finger-induced

23y

effec . (1d. at 69.) Complainant further argued that with respect to operative coupling, “the
["3 52] patent refers specifically to the capacitive coupling of a finger with the conductive

- elements in the touch sensor.” (Id.) The administrative law judge rejects complginant’s

’ argument for the reasons that (1) the rec;ord does not establish that respondent was a party in the
previous litigation with Synaptics and complainant does not so argue (s_cﬁ:_ Domestic Industry |
Section infra); respondent has not agreed to the construction of “operaﬁvé coupling” alleged to

be agreed to by complainant and Synaptics; and (3) the administrative law judge has found

nothing in the record indicating that complainant had asserted this construction of the term
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;‘operative coupling” prior to its post—heaﬁng‘bﬁvéﬁ ;
b. The claifﬁéd phrase, “(a) identify a first maxima in 2 signal corresponding to a
first finger, (b) identify a minima following the first maxima, (c) identify a second
maxima in a signal corresponding to a second finger following said minima...”
Respondent argued that the ‘661 application generates projection data corresponding to
finger profiles; that the ‘661 application includes a first maxima consisting of one or more “1s”
in the finger profile; that the 661 applicatio;i identifies those"‘ls” as a first maxima “because it
- discloses looking for a point where the finger profile changss from ‘1’ to “0°,” which also
identifies a minima following the first maxima; and that the ‘661 application further 1ooks fora
point where the finger profile changes form “0” to “1,”which provides identification of the
second maxima in the finger profile. (RBr at 89-90.)

Complainant argued that the ‘661 application only discloses determining two distinct
contacts on the touch panel based on finding a “0” to “1” transition following a “1” to “O”
transition, and that finding those transitions does not disclose the elements (a), (b), and (c¢) of
claim 1 bf the ‘352 patent. (CBr at 69-70.) Compiainant also argued that the ‘661 patent only
provides an indication of whether switches are ON or OFF and the “1s” and “0s” corresponding

~to the ON and OFF states are not maxima and minima. (Id. at 70.)

The staff argued that the ‘661 application teaches projecting a finger profile along an X
and y axis, said profile containing a maxima, a mlmma, and a second maxima. (SBr at 16.)

The administrative law judge has previously constmed elements (a), (b), and (¢) and
found: o

(1) that the disputed claim term “identify a first méximé in a signal

corresponding to a first finger" means identify a first peak value in

a finger profile taken on a straight line obtained from scanning the
- touch sensor, (2) that the disputed claim term "identify a minima

following the first maxima" means identify the lowest value in the
finger profile taken on said straight line that occurs after the first
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_peak value, and befbre another peak value is identiﬁed, and (3) that

the disputed claim term "identify a second maxima in a signal

corresponding to a second finger following said minima" means

after identifying the lowest value in the finger profile taken on said

straight line, identify a second peak value in the finger profile

taken on said straight line.
Order No. 17 at 13-14. The administrative law judge also previously found that one of ordinary
skill in the art would understand the language of claim 1 to require that elements (a), (b), and (c)
be perfonned in sequential order. Id. at 11. Further, with respect to the term “identify,” the
administrative law judge previously construed said term in his Order No. 17 to mean “recognize
a value to be,” which requires both analysis of the touch sensor signal and designation of the
location of the claimed maxima and minima. Id. at 34.

Regarding the determination in the ‘661 application of whether there have been multiple

~ finger contacts on the touch panel, the ‘661 application provides a flow chart at Figure 2, which
indicates the steps used to determine whether there have been one or more inputs on the touch
panel. (RX-195.005; RX-195.015 at Figure 2.) When the presence of at least one input is
determined at step 11 of the flow chart, the method of the ‘661 application generates a projection
of data along the x-axis, an example of which is shown in Figure 5. (RX-195.004 at § 14 (“If it is
~ determined by the empty data judgment part (11) that there are some data, [the flow] jumps to an
x-axis projection data maker (12), coordinate data are projected on the x-axis as shown in Figure

5, ahd x-axis projection data are obtained”); RX-195.014 at Figure 5.) Figui‘e 5 of the ‘661

application shows a data projection along the x-axis that corresponds to the presence of two
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fingers on the touch panel: =

(RX—195.614.) Based on the foregoing, the administrative law judge finds that the projection of
data along the x-axis in Figure 5 of the ‘661 application represents a finger profile taken on a
straight line obtained kfrom scanning the touch sehsor of the ‘661 application.

With respect to identifying the locations of multiple inputs along said finger profile, the
“661 application discloses with respect to the flow diagram of F iguré V2: :

At a part-for-judging-whether-or-not-it-is-possible-to-
divide-the-x-axis (13), there are multiple groups of the said
projection data (23) and it is determined whether or notitis
possible to make a division. First, when considered in the positive
logic, a determination as to a division is carried out, first, by

finding a point where a change occurs from "1" to "0" which is at
the end of the first data group and, then. by finding a point where a

change occurs from "0" to "1" which is at the beginning of the
second data group. The point of division is set at the above-stated
point of change from "0" to "1." If a division is possible, a point of
division (indicated by A - A line in Figure 5) is found as stated
above, and then, [the flow] moves to the division coordinate data
maker (14). At the division coordinate data maker (14), the

- coordinate data are divided at the A - A line so that the data are
divided between divided coordinate data wherein data on the left
side shown in Figure 6 are left while data on the right [in Figure 6]
are deleted, [on one hand], and divided coordinate data wherein
data on the right side shown in Figure 7 are left while data on the
left side [in Figure 7] are deleted, [on the other].

(RX-195.004 at q 15 (emphasis added).) Thus, the ‘661 application teaches identiﬁring a
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‘tra«nsitiori frém ‘;1% ’toy“{)”‘and then another transition from “0” to “i” in order to determine that a
division in the data exists and providing’ an indication that the data recorded resulted from
mqltiple contacts on the touch panel. As seen from the foregoing quote, while thé ‘661
application recognizes a division after the “0” to “1” transition has been identified and then sets
the point of division at that transition, the administrative law judge finds ﬁothing in the ‘661 |
application which re:cogxﬁzes any value to be a maxima or a minima. Further, assuming,
arggendo, said values of “0” or *“1” Were recognized as maxima or minima, the location of said
minima is not recognized until after the second maxima is identified because the data is not
divided until the “0” to “1” transition is found, i.e. the minima is not recognized as a minima
until the “0” to “17 transition is found. Thus, he finds that the temporal requi:ement of claim 1
of the ‘352 patent is not met.
Resppndent argued that because the ‘661 application discloses looking for a changé in
value from “1” to “0” and then from “0” to “1,” the ‘661 application identifies a first maxima, a
- minima, and thén a second maxima. In support of said argument, respondent relied on the
testimony of its expert Balakrishnan, who testified:
| Q. . Let's turn to the identify a first maxima in a signal corresponding to
a first finger portion of the limitation. And in your opinion, is that
met by the '661 application?
A. Yes, it is.
And what is your basis for that testimony?
A.  The basis for the testimony is the text in the application that talks
about finding a change froma 1 to a 0. And also the way the

analysis is shown in the figure that looks at the data in the
projections.

% % &

Q. Thank you. Now, applying the Order Number 17 constructions of
identify a minima and the word identify, could you explain how the
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'661 application discloses identification of a minima?

A. Sure. The '661 application talks about finding a change from a one
to a zero. And then a change from a zero to a one.  And in that text,
which is referring to these finger profiles in figure 5, that in itself is
looking for -- it is very clearly looking for that 1-0. In other words,
a zero that follows a 1. a minima that follows a maxima that's
previously identified '

Q. And how would a person of ordinary skill in the art understand that
to constitute identification of a minima?

A. It would understand that because the notion of finding a point that
changes, that's clearly identification.

% % ¥k

Q. And with respect to identification of a second maxmla, how is that
disclosed in the patent?

A.  That's disclosed by the sentence in the patent referring to figure 5

that talks about finding a change ﬁ'om azerotoal. Soitknowsit
is going the other way now. -

Q. Now, you understand that under Order Number 17, there is a
temporal requirement that requires the second maximum be
identified later in time than the minimum. Is that limitation met by
the '661 application?

A. Yes, it is.
Q. And where do you find that?

A.  First of all, the analysis is happening in one direction along the --
on those finger profiles, the coordinate projections, and the text
itself talks about where the finding the change is in sequence, so
you have to first find a 1 and a zero and then ﬁnd azeroandal.
So that's clearly a temporal order. :

(Tr. at 966, 983-984, 985-986 (emphasis added).) Thus, as the foregoing testimony establisheé,
Balakrishnan Conéluded that the ‘661 application disCloscs identifying a first maxima, a minima,
and second maxima because it identifies transitions from “1” to “0” and “0” to “1.” However, as

found supra, while said transitions indicate where values change, the ‘661 application does not
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teach reCOgiﬁZing said values to be maxima er,ﬂminima'as required by the administrative law
- judge’s previous construction of the term “identify” in Order No. 17.

c. The claimed phrase, “providing an indication of the simultaneous presence of two
fingers in response to identification of said first and second maxima.”

Respondent argued that “[i]here does not appear to be any dispute that the JP6-161661

Application discloses prowdmg an indication of the snnultaneous presence of two fingers,” and
' asserted that complamant’s expert Dezmelyk agreed. (RBr at 91-92))

Complainant argued that this limitation is not present in the ‘661 application because the
‘661 application does not teach identification of ﬁrst‘and second maxima. (CBr at 71 )

The staff argued thet “It]he ‘661 patent [épplica‘tion] provides an indication of
simultaneous ‘presence of two fingers.” (SBr at 16.)

The admin‘istrative law judge previously construed the phrase “in response to” to mean
“‘after and in reaction to,” meaning that the indication of the presence of two fingers must occur
at some time after the identification ef the claimed first and second maxixea, and that said
indication must occur in reaction to at least the identiﬁcatio;l of the claimed first and second
maxima.” Order No. 17 at 30.

The *661 application discloses a flow diagram at Figure 3: depicting a rﬁethod for
determining whether the data generated from the ﬂew diagram of Figure 2 at A can be ﬁm:her
subd1v1ded (§e_ RX-195.016 at Flgure 3; RX—195 004 at 7 17-19.) Where a third subdivision
of data is not possfnle the ‘661 apphcatlon dlscloses ‘it is determined that two switches were

, pressed and the result is recorded at a two switch press recordmg part ” (RX 195.004 at 11 19; see
also RX-195 016 at Flgure 3.) Based on the foregomg, the adrmmstratwe law judge finds that

the ‘661 application teaches “providing an indication of the simultaneous presence of two

fingers.” However, because the administrative law judge has found, supra, that the ‘661
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~application does not téa;:h identifying maxima as kiny‘ 'claifa 1 of theV‘BSkZ patent, he further finds |
thai the ‘661 applicatién dées not discioée “providing an indication;.. in response to identification
of said first and second maxima.” |

Based on the foregoing, respondent has not éStablished by clear and convincing evidence
that ihe ‘661 application discloses all of the elements of claim 1 of the 352 pafent, and hence, he
finds that claim 1 is not anticipated by the ‘661 application. o
2. Claim 2

Respondent argued that its expert Balakrishnan identified three examples of how the ‘661
application “disclosesrprbviding a pointing device click function in response to the detection of at
least a second ndaxima,” and hence, that claim 2, which is dependent on claim 1, is anticipated by
the ‘661 application. (RBr at 96-97.)

Complainant argued that the ‘661 applicatioﬁ does not anticipate claim 2 of the ‘352
patent because it does not disclose any of the elements of claim 1 and also “does not disclose a
pointing device and does not disclose a pointing device click flmctioﬁ.” (CBrat 71-72.)

The staff argued that the ‘661 application teaches a click function, and thus, anticipates
claim 2 of fhe ‘352 patent. (SBr at 16.)

Th’é parties agree that the term “pointing device click function” means “a function that
would normall& result from the button click of a pointing device. (RFF 609 (undisputed).)
Further, the administrative law judge previously construed the term “in response t0” to mean
“éﬁer and in reaction to.” Order No. 17 at 30.

Witﬁ respect to claim 2 of the ‘352 patent and the disclosure in the “661 application, -
respondent’s expert Balakrishnan tesﬁﬁcd;

Q. Let's turn to dependent claim number 2. This includes the further
step of causing a pointing device click function to occur in
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response to the detection of at least a second maxima. |

Is it your opinion that that limitation is disclosed by the '661
application S

A.  Yes,itis.
Q.  And what is the basis for that testimony

; A The basis for that testimony is. again, the fact that it finds a second
- maxima and then determines to click -- to whether or not a switch

is activated due to that second maxima

Q. And if you could, where in the '661 application do yc;ii find that
limitation that you just described with reference to

A. That's in the text there. It says when the touch panel is pressed,

switch input is detected by a switch detector. That switch input

would be similar to pressing a switch on a pointing device. Soitis
a click function. !

Q.  You testified earlier about a two-switch press. What is a
two-switch press?

A. A _two-switch press in the context of the ’661 application is when
. two switches are pressed at the same time indicating multiple

fingers are pressing multiple times.

Q. Would a two-switch press constitute a pointing device click
function under the parties’ agreed construction for that limitation?

A. Yes, it would.
And why is that?

A. Because it is -- if a two-switch press occurs, a single switch press
could also have occurred. And it is also related to the second

switch happening in response to that second maxima

(Tr. at 990-992 (emphasis added).) The administrative law judge finds that the portions of the
disclosure in the ‘661 application relied upon by Balakrishnan relate only to the detection of .
multiple inputs on the touch panel, i.e. determining that multiple switches have been pressed, and

do not disclose any functionality the occurs based on the detection of multiple inputs.
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s ‘AVc"c,okrdingly, the adnnmsi:rauve iaw judge furﬁler ﬁnds thaf respbndént has not éhown by clyf:kar’ ,
~ and cenvinéing evidence fhat the ‘661 application diécloses a p(’)inting‘device click function.
Further, the administrative law judge has found, M; that respondent failed to show by clear
and convincing eyidence that claim 1 of the ‘}3 52 patent is anticipated by the ‘661 application.
Hence, he finds that respondent has not shown by clear and convincing evidence that claim 2 of
the ‘352 patent, thch depends from claim 1, is anticipated by the ‘661 application. s
3. Claimis |

Respondent argued that the ‘661 application teaches computing the center of individual
toucheé on the touch panel, which is equivalent to calculating a centroid, and 'hencg, claim 16,
which is dependent on claim 1, is anticipated by the ‘661 application. (RBr at 98.)

Complainant argued that the ‘661 application discloses finding “the center of a group of
coordinates where the switch is engaged,” which “is not the ‘centroid’ or center of mass
calculatidn disclosed in the ‘352 patent.” (CBr at 72.) Complainant also argued that the ‘661
application onlj discloses finding the center of data when one input is détected. (See, e.g.,
CRRFF 630.G.) |

The staff argued that the ‘661 application “teaches calculating centroids of each finger as
claimed,” and thus, anticipates claim 16 of the 352 patent. (SBr at 16.)

The 661 application discloses calculating the center of pmjegtion data:

(Effects of Invention) In the present invention, switch coordinates
are not recognized as they are, as was done in the conventional
method, but rather data are treated as a group, and a coordinate[s]
that is/are calculated to be at the center of projection data
comprising the group is/are recognized to be a switch[es], so by
selection of an appropriate size for switches, malfunction due to
touching of switches in the surrounding area can be greatly reduced
as described below, and an important function described above can
be added.
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(RX—IQ;.OOB (emphasié added).) The ‘661 ;pplicaﬁcn further deséribes an example rv&’fherek ’the :
‘center of a data group is calculated: | k‘ | |
If there are data on both the x- and y-axes and a diviéion is
impossible, it is determined that an input is only from one switch,
so a press point coordinate is set at the center of a data group
comprised of multiple coordinates.

(RX-195.004 at § 16.) Thus, the ‘661 application teaches calculating the center of projectibn
data in order to determine which switch or switches a user intended to press on the touch panel.
Further, respondeﬁt’s expert Balakrishnan opined that “one of skill in the art would understand
that calculating the center of the projection would be equivalent to calculating é centroid of a
touch.” (Tr. at 1(’)18.) Based on the foregoing; the administrative law judge finds that the ‘661
application discloses calculating the center of the data projections created based on multiple
inputs on the touch panel, and said centers of data projections are equivalent to centroids
corresponding to muitiple finger inputs on a touch sensor. However, the administrative law
jﬁdge has found, supra, that respondent failed to show by clear and convincing evidence that
claim 1 of the ‘352 patent is anticipated by the ‘661 application, and hence, he finds that
respondent has not shown by clear and convincing evidence that claim 16 of the 352 patent,
which depends from claim 1, is anticipated by the ‘661 application.

B.  Obviousness

Included within the presumption of validity is a presumption of non-obviousness.

Structural Rubber Prods. Co. v. Park Rubber Co., 749 F.2d 707, 714 (Fed. Cir. 1984), Regarding
non-obviousness, the patent statute dictates that a person is not entitled to a patent if the
differences between the claimed invention and the prior art “are such that the subject matter as a

whole would have been obvious at the time the invention was made to a person having ordinary

skill in the art.” 35 U.S.C. §103; see also Net MoneyIN, Inc. v. VeriSign, Inc., 545 F.3d 1359,
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1371 (Fed. Cir. 2008) (staﬁng, “differences between the pfior'art reference and a claimed
invention, however slight, invoke the question of obviousness, not anticipation.”).

The ultimate determination of whether an invention would have been obvious is a legal

conclusion based on underlying findings of fact. In re Dembiczak, 175 F.3d 994, 998 (Fed. Cir.
1999). ‘The underlying factual inquiries relatiné to nop—obviousness include: 1) the scope and
coﬁtent Qf ’the prior arf; 2)‘ the lcvei of ordinary skill iﬁ the art; 3) the differences between the
claimed invention and the prior art; and, 4) secondary‘consideration’s of non—obviqusness, ;suchv as
long-felt need, commercial success, and the failure of others. See Graham v. John Deere Co., 383
US. 1,17 (1966). |

The ﬁist step in an obviousness analysis requires a determination of the scope and content
bf the ijrior art, and only analogous art caﬁ be considered prior art. In re Clay, 966 F.2d 656, 658
(Fed. Cir. 1992). Whether art is anaiogous is a question of fact and “[t]wo criteria have evolved
for détemﬂning whether pﬁor art is ’analogous: ¢ Whether the art is from the same field of
endeavor, regardless of the problem addreésed, andv(Z) if the reference is not within thé field of
the inventor’s endeavor, whether the reference still is réésonably pertinent to the particular
problem with which the inventor is involved.” Id. at 658-659.

Obviousness may bé based on any one of the alleged prior art references or a combination
of thé same, and what a person of ordinary skill in the art would understand based on his
knowledge and said references. If all of the élementsyof an invention are found, then:

[A] proper analysis under § 103 requires, inter alia, consideration
of two factors: (1) whether the prior art would have suggested to

- those of ordinary skill in the art that they should make the claimed
composition or device, or carry out the claimed process; and (2)
whether the prior art would also have revealed that in so making or
carrying out, those of ordinary skill would have a reasonable

~ expectation of success. Both the suggestion and the reasonable
expectation of success must be founded in the prior art, not in the
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, annlicant’sydisclosure. E
Velander v. Garner, 348 F.3d 1359, 1363 (Fed. Cir.‘2()(}3) (emphasis added) (internal citations
- omitted). Further, the critical inquiry in determining the differences betweén the claimed

invention and the prior art is whether there is a reason to combine the prior art references. See

C.R. Bard v. M3 Sys., 157 F.3d 1340, 1352 (Fed. Cir. 1998). For example:

~ [A] patent composed of several elements is not proved obvious
merely by demonstrating that each of its elements was,
independently, known in the prior art. Although common sense
directs one to look with care at a patent application that claims as
innovation the combination of two known devices according to
their established functions, it can be important to identify a reason
that would have prompted a person of ordinary skill in the relevant
field to combine the elements in the way the claimed new
invention does. This is so because inventions in most, if not all,
instances rely upon building blocks long since uncovered, and
claimed discoveries almost of necessity will be combinations of
what, in some sense, is already known.

" KSR Int’l Co. v. Teleflex Inc., 550 U.S. 398, 418-19 (2007) (emphasis added) (KSR). However,
the Supreme Court has rejected a “rigid approach,” regarding a patent challenger’s obligation to
demonstrate a “teaching, suggestion, or motivation to combine” in the prior art. Id. at 419-22.

The Court stated that:

When a work is available in one field of endeavor, design
incentives and other market forces can prompt variations of it,
either in the same field or a different one. If a person of ordinary
skill can implement a predictable variation, § 103 likely bars its
‘patentability. For the same reason, if a technique has been used to

improve one device, and a person of ordinary skill in the art would
recognize that it would improve similar devices in the same way,
using the technique is obvious unless its actual application is
beyond his or her skill. Sakraida and Anderson’s-Black Rock are
illustrative-a court must ask whether the improvement is more than
the predictable use of prior art elements according to their
established function.

Following these principles may be more difficult in other cases
than it is here because the claimed subject matter may involve

36



more than the simple substitution of one known element for -
another or the mere application of a known technique to a piece of
prior art ready for the improvement. Often. it will be necessary for
a court to look to interrelated teachings of multiple patents: the
effects of demands known to the design community or present in
‘the marketplace: and the background knowledge possessed by a
person having ordinary skill in the art, all in order to determine
whether there was an apparent reason to combine the known

elements in the fashion claimed by the patent at issue. To facilitate
review, this analysis should be made explicitly. See In re Kahn,

441 F.3d 977, 988 (CA Fed. 2006) (“[R]ejections on obviousness

- grounds cannot be sustained by mere conclusory statements;
instead, there must be some articulated reasoning with some
rational underpinning to support the legal conclusions of
obviousness”). As our precedents make clear, however, the
analysis need not seek out precise teachings directed to the specific
subject matter of the challenged claim, for a court can take account
of the inferences and creative steps that a person of ordinary skill
in the art would employ.

Ij_ at 417—1 8 (emphasis added). Further, a suggestion to combine may come from the prior art,
as filtered through the knowledge of one skilled in the art. See Certain Lens-Fitted Film Pkgs., |
Inv. No. 337-TA-406, Order No. 141 at 6 (May 24, 2005). “[I]Jn many cases a person of ordinary
skill Wiﬁ be able to fit the teachings of multiple patents together like pieces of a puzzle.” KSR,
550 U.S. at 420-21. |
1. Claim 7

Respondent argued that claim 7 of the 352 patent, which is dependent on claim 6 which
is dependent on claim 1, is renderéd obvious by the ‘661 application in view of either Siegel
(RX-197) or Fearing (RX-101). It is argued by re‘spondent that there is no dispute regarding the
prior art status of either Siegel or Fearing; that both Siegel and Fearing disclose’a capacitive
touch sensor; and “that one of ordinary skill in’thke art would have known that either of these
touch sensors could be utilized in conjunction with the JP6—161661 Application” to meet fhe

requirements of claim 6 of the ‘352 patent, which is incorporated by reference in asserted claim 7
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k’ m 1ssue(RBrat99-10{)) Reependenf'furthef' argued that the ‘661 apphcatwn 'teaehesk_ the
additiyona’lkre;inirement ef claini 7 that the nlaxima are peaks. (Ig at 100.) |

Complainnnt argued ;that’ Siegel and Fearing are non-analagous art thet relate to roBot
fingers and thus, should not be considered as prior’art to the ‘352 paten’;; that the teachings of the

' Cmeination of the ‘661 application with either Siegel or Fearing do not disclose all of the
elem